
1. Approval of Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 2025 (Pages 2 – 10)  
 

2. Housing Delivery Test Update 2025 (Pages 11 – 24) 



CABINET MEMBERS DELEGATED DECISION 
 

Open/Exempt 
 

Mandatory/ 
 
Discretionary /  
 
Operational 
 

Any especially 
affected 
Wards 
 
 

 

Lead Member: Cllr Jim Moriarty 
E-mail: cllr.James.Moriarty@West-

Norfolk.gov.uk  
 

Other Cabinet Members consulted:  

Other Members consulted:  

Lead Officer:  Alex Fradley (Planning Policy 
Manager) 
E-mail: alex.fradley@west-norfolk.gov.uk  
 

Other Officers consulted: Michael Burton (Principal 
Planner); Karl Patterson (Senior Housing Development 
Officer); Clare Cobley (Housing Development Officer) 

Financial 
Implications  
YES/NO 
 

Policy/ 
Personnel 
Implications 
YES/NO 
 

Statutory 
Implications 
YES/NO 
 

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment 
YES/NO 
If YES: Pre-
screening/ Full 
Assessment 

Risk 
Management 
Implications 
YES/NO 

Environmental 
Considerations 
 
YES/NO 

If not for publication, the paragraph(s) of Schedule 12A of the 1972 Local Government Act considered 
to justify that is (are) paragraph(s)    

Date of publication of report: 04 June 2025 Date decision to be taken: 11 June 2025 

Deadline for Call-In: 18 June 2025  

 

 
TITLE: APPROVAL OF HOUSING DELIVERY TEST ACTION PLAN 2025 (IN 
RESPONSE TO THE 2023 RESULTS) 
 
 

Summary  
This report has been prepared to secure approval of the 2025 Housing 
Delivery Test (HDT) Action Plan.  The 2025 HDT Action Plan has been 
prepared as an update to the 2024 HDT Action Plan, in response to the 
Government’s published 2023 HDT data (December 2024). 
 
The 2023 HDT identified the Borough Council as having achieved a 
result below the Government’s 95% requirement (thereby triggering the 
need to prepare an HDT Action Plan). 
 

Decision to be taken 
The Cabinet Member for Planning and Licensing to approve, under 
delegated powers, the HDT Action Plan 2025. 

 
Reason for Decision 

To approve and permit publication of the Borough Council’s HDT 
Action Plan 2025, prepared in response to the Government’s latest 
(2023) HDT data (published December 2024). 

 

 

mailto:cllr.James.Moriarty@West-Norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:cllr.James.Moriarty@West-Norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:alex.fradley@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 

 
1 Background 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), sets out the requirement for 
Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to prepare a Housing Delivery Test (HDT) 
Action Plan, where housing delivery falls below 95% of an LPAs housing 
requirement over the previous three financial years.   
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
publishes annual data returns for the HDT, setting out the performance of each 
LPA.  The most recent publication of results was published in December 2024 
and covers the period 2020-2023 (Housing Delivery Test: 2023 measurement - 
GOV.UK).  The 2023 HDT result was below 95%, triggering the requirement for 
the Borough Council to prepare a HDT Action Plan. 
 
The Borough Council previously published a comprehensive and far-reaching 
HDT Action Plan in November 2024, shortly before the 2023 results were 
released.  The HDT Action Plan 2024 was prepared on the basis of the 2022 
result.  Given that the 2023 results were released around 2 weeks after 
publication of the latest Action Plan, a “light touch” update has been produced 
to reflect the latest (2023) result. 
 
The HDT Action Plan 2025 should be read in conjunction with the 2024 Action 
Plan.  Strategic Housing and Planning Policy officers have worked together, to 
bring the HDT Action Plan up to date, in light of the 2023 result. 
 

2 Options Considered  
None.  Preparation of an HDT Action Plan is required by Government, where 
housing delivery falls below 95% of the Borough’s housing requirement over 
the previous three years. 

 
3 Policy Implications 

Preparation of the HDT Action Plan is a national policy (NPPF) requirement.  It 
is necessary to demonstrate what the Borough Council is already doing, 
together with further actions, to bolster housing delivery to meet local housing 
needs. 
 
The 2023 result, released on 12 December 2024, initially showed the Borough 
Council having achieved 60%, thereby triggering the “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” (National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 
11).  For the purposes of decision making, this applies the “tilted balance” in 
favour of development, rendering strategic Local Plan policies for housing out 
of date.  This situation prompted the Borough Council to challenge the 
Government’s 2023 result. 
 
In response to the Council’s challenge, the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG) and Office for National Statistics (ONS) jointly 
agreed to investigate further, in view of evidence presented by the Borough 
Council.  Following this investigation, on 26 March 2025, MHCLG formally 
wrote to the Borough Council setting out a recalculated 2023 HDT result, at 
87%.  This removed the presumption in favour of sustainable development (for 
development management/ determination of planning applications), but 
nevertheless the requirement to prepare an HDT Action Plan remains. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-2023-measurement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-2023-measurement
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/9008/housing_delivery_test_action_plan_2024.pdf


 

 
4 Financial Implications 

None. 
 
5 Personnel Implications 

None. 
 
6 Environmental Implications 

The NPPF (December 2024) provides a framework by which locally-prepared 
plans can provide for housing and other development in a sustainable manner.  
These national policy requirements are reflected in the Corporate Strategy 
2023-2027, which includes priorities to both promote growth and prosperity to 
benefit West Norfolk (including encouraging housing development and 
infrastructure that meets local need) and protect our environment. 
 
The HDT Action Plan sets out what the Borough Council is already doing, and 
could consider doing, to boost housing development.  It is necessary to ensure 
that, in seeking to increase housing delivery, the Council maintains its 
commitments, both to promote beneficial growth and prosperity, while 
protecting the environment. 

 
7 Statutory Considerations 

None.  Preparation of the HDT Action Plan is a requirement of national planning 
policy, although not a statutory requirement. 

 
8 Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment undertaken, demonstrating neutral 
impacts.  Therefore, there is no requirement to undertake a full EIA. 

 
9 Risk Management Implications 

The HDT Action Plan has been a requirement of national planning policy since 
2018, when the requirement to maintain at least 95% housing delivery against 
the local housing need for the previous three years (or Local Plan housing 
requirements, if adopted within the previous 5 years).  Local housing need is 
calculated using the Government’s standard method, with the latest 
calculations set out in the 2025 HDT Action Plan (which should be read in 
conjunction with the 2024 Action Plan, adopted by the Council in November 
2024).  
 
If the Borough Council fails to produce a robust HDT Action Plan, there is a risk 
that undesirable development proposals could be granted on appeal, in 
response to the Council’s failure to explain how it is working to boost housing 
supply.  The Action Plan is therefore an important tool in resisting inappropriate 
development, through meeting the Government’s requirement for the Borough 
Council to prepare a Plan in the event that housing delivery falls below the 95% 
“pass” figure. 

 
10 Declarations of Interest / Dispensations Granted  

None. 
 



 

11 Background Papers 
2025 HDT Action Plan (appended to this report). 

 

 

Signed:……………………………….. 

 

Cabinet Member for:……………………………………….. Date:…………… 

 

 

  



 
Stage 1 - Pre-Screening Equality Impact Assessment  
 

For equalities profile information please visit Norfolk Insight - Demographics and Statistics - Data Observatory 

Name of policy/service/function Housing Delivery Text Action Plan 2025 (in response to 

the 2023 HDT results) 

Is this a new or existing policy/ 

service/function? (tick as appropriate) 
New   Existing X 

Brief summary/description of the main aims 

of the policy/service/function being screened. 

 

Please state if this policy/service is rigidly 

constrained by statutory obligations, and 

identify relevant legislation. 

Since 2018, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government (MHCLG) has required local 

authorities to prepare a Housing Delivery Test (HDT) 

Action Plan, where delivery falls below 95% of the 

housing requirement over the previous three years. 

This requirement is included in the current National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), December 2024. 

Who has been consulted as part of the 

development of the policy/service/function? – 

new only (identify stakeholders consulted with) 

Housing Services (Strategic Housing team) has been 

consulted. 

Question Answer 

1. Is there any reason to believe that the 

policy/service/function could have a specific 

impact on people from one or more of the 

following groups, for example, because they 

have particular needs, experiences, issues 

or priorities or in terms of ability to access 

the service? 

 

Please tick the relevant box for each group.   

NB. Equality neutral means no negative 

impact on any group. 

 

If potential adverse impacts are identified, 

then a full Equality Impact Assessment 

(Stage 2) will be required.    

 

 

 

*For more information on health inequalities 

please visit The King's Fund 

 

 

P
o

s
it
iv

e
  

 N
e

g
a

ti
v
e
 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

U
n

s
u
re

 

Age   X  

Disability   X  

Sex   X  

Gender Re-assignment   X  

Marriage/civil partnership   X  

Pregnancy & maternity   X  

Race   X  

Religion or belief   X  

Sexual orientation   X  

Armed forces community   X  

Care leavers   X  

Health inequalities*   X  

Other (eg low income, caring 

responsibilities) 

  X  

Please provide a brief explanation of the answers above: 

The need for homes is necessity for everyone, including all protected groups (as defined by the 2010 

Equality Act). 

 

https://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell


 

 

 

  

Question Answer Comments 

2. Is the proposed policy/service likely to 

affect relations between certain equality 

communities or to damage relations between 

the equality communities and the Council, for 

example because it is seen as favouring a 

particular community or denying 

opportunities to another? 

Yes / No Preparation of the HDT Action Plan is a 

requirement of national planning policy 

(NPPF).  Its role is positive planning, to 

identify and explain potential actions that 

the Borough Council could take to bolster 

housing delivery, to support the 

Government’s objective of significantly 

boosting the supply of homes (NPPF, 

paragraph 61, December 2024). 

3. Could this policy/service be perceived as 

impacting on communities differently? 

Yes / No The need to ensure delivery of sufficient 

housing to meet local needs is potentially 

of benefit to all communities/ groups 

4. Are any impacts identified above minor 

and if so, can these be eliminated or reduced 

by minor actions? 

If yes, please agree actions with a member 

of the Corporate Equalities Working Group 

and list agreed actions in the comments 

section 

Yes / No Actions: 

None required. However, the reporting 

within the document may lead to/ be 

addressed through other Council 

policies which will be subject to their 

own EIA. 

Actions agreed by EWG member: 

………………………………………. 

If ‘yes’ to questions 2 - 4 a full impact assessment will be required unless comments are 

provided to explain why this is not felt necessary: 

No assessment is needed at this stage as this is a high level strategy, but any individual policies on 

specific housing allocations, and any development plans, will require their own full Equality Impact 

Assessment. 

 

 

Decision agreed by EWG member: ……Jo Stanton …………………………………………….. 

5. Is the policy/service specifically designed 

to tackle evidence of disadvantage or 

potential discrimination? 

Yes / No Please provide brief summary: 

The HDT Action Plan specifically relates to 

boosting housing delivery. This is a high 

level monitoring document. Changes to 

Council policy on affordable housing for 

example, would be considered and 

assessed in its own right. 



 

 

 Please tick to confirm completed EIA Pre-screening Form has been shared with Corporate Policy 

(corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk) 

 

HDT Action Plan Update – May 2025 Member Delegated Report (Corporate 

Equalities Working Group analysis, 2 June 2025) 

Summary of the Report 

Title: 

Approval of Housing Delivery Test (HDT) Action Plan 2025 

Purpose: 

To approve and publish the Borough Council’s updated HDT Action Plan in response to the 

Government’s 2023 HDT results (published December 2024), which showed housing delivery below 

the required 95%. 

Key Points: 

• The 2023 HDT result initially showed 60% delivery, triggering the “presumption in favour of 

sustainable development”. 

• Following a successful challenge by the Borough Council, the result was revised to 87%, removing 

the presumption but still requiring an Action Plan. 

• The 2025 Action Plan is a “light touch” update to the 2024 version, reflecting the latest data. 

• The plan outlines current and potential future actions to improve housing delivery in the Borough. 

Policy Context: 

Required under the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

Aims to demonstrate how the Council will meet local housing needs and avoid undesirable 

development due to under-delivery. 

Implications: 

• Financial, Personnel, and Statutory: None. 

• Environmental: The plan aligns with sustainable development goals in the Corporate Strategy 

2023–2027. 

• Risk Management: A robust plan helps defend against inappropriate development proposals. 

Assessment completed by: 

Name  

Michael Burton 

 

Job title  Principal Planner (Planning Policy) 

Date completed  20 May 2025 

Reviewed by EWG member Jo Stanton Date 2 June 2025 

mailto:corporate.policy@west-norfolk.gov.uk


 

Equality Implications 

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA): 

A Pre-Screening EIA was conducted. 

Conclusion: The policy has neutral impacts on all protected groups under the Equality Act 2010. 

No full EIA required. 

Key Equality Considerations: 

• The need for housing is universal and affects all groups equally. 

• No group is disproportionately advantaged or disadvantaged by the policy. 

• The plan is not perceived to damage relations between communities or between communities and 

the Council. 

• It is not specifically designed to address discrimination but supports broader housing access goals. 

Groups Considered: 

• Age, Disability, Sex, Gender Reassignment, Race, Religion, Sexual Orientation, Armed Forces 

Community, Care Leavers, Low Income, and others. 

Final Assessment: 

The HDT Action Plan is a high-level monitoring document. 

Any future changes to housing policy (e.g., affordable housing) will undergo their own detailed EIA. 

 

 

 



Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 2025 (in response to the 2023 

results) – overleaf 



1 
 

 
 
 
  

Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West 
Norfolk 

Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 2025 

(in response to the 2023 results) 

 

June 2025 



2 
 

1. Introduction and Aims 
 
1.1 On 12 December 2024, the Government published its latest national Housing Delivery 

Test (HDT) result. The 2023 HDT result superseded the previous 2022 result and 
showed a result of 60% for the Borough, therefore triggering the requirement for the 
Borough Council to prepare a HDT Action Plan and “presumption in favour of 
sustainable development” (National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11). 
 

1.2 The 2024 (latest) Housing Delivery Test (HDT) Action Plan was approved by the 
Council on 27 November 2024, just two weeks before publication of the Government’s 
latest (2023) HDT result. The 2024 HDT Action Plan was prepared in response to the 
2022 HDT results, published by the Government on 19 December 2023 and which 
represented a comprehensive replacement to the 2019/ 2020 HDT Action Plan1.  This: 
 

 Outlines proactive measures the Borough Council is currently taking to enable 
new homes to be delivered; 

 Provides a detailed analysis of the latest housing trajectory schedule and other 
data sources; and 

 Sets out a series of appropriate actions necessary to enable the increase of 
both supply and delivery of new homes moving forward. 

 

1.3 The 2024 HDT Action Plan included an indicative 2023 result, based on the latest 
monitoring data (Table 13, 2024 HDT Action Plan). 
 

KLWN 2023 HDT 
indicative result 

     

Number of homes 
required 

Total 
number 

of homes 
required 

Number of homes 
delivered 

Total 
number of 

homes 
delivered 

Housing 
Delivery Test: 

updated 
(2023) 

measurement 

Housing 
Delivery 

Test: 2023 
consequence 

2020-
2021 

2021-
2022 

2022-
2023 

2020-2023 
2020-
2021 

2021-
2022 

2022-
2023 

2020-2023   

358 547 572 1477 340 340 616* 1296 88% Action plan 

* 569 + 47 dwellings carried forward from 2021-22 monitoring year 

 

1.4 The 2023 HDT result showed a significant discrepancy between the latest Government 
figure (60%) and the Borough Council’s own indicative calculation (88%), thereby 
technically triggering the “presumption in favour of sustainable development” (NPPF, 
paragraph 11). This is because this Government’s HDT results webpage was to be 
taken as the definitive result.  Notwithstanding, in either scenario the 2023 HDT result 
requires the Borough Council to prepare and/ or update the 2024 HDT Action Plan. 
This Action Plan fulfils this responsibility and is an update to previously published 2024 
Action Plan. 
 

                                                           
1 https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/753/5-
year_housing_land_supply_position_and_housing_delivery_test_hdt  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-2023-measurement
https://democracy.west-norfolk.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=379&MId=6527&Ver=4&Info=1
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/9008/housing_delivery_test_action_plan_2024.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-2022-measurement
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/753/5-year_housing_land_supply_position_and_housing_delivery_test_hdt
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/753/5-year_housing_land_supply_position_and_housing_delivery_test_hdt


3 
 

2. Challenge to the 2023 HDT result 
 
2.1 Immediately following publication of the HDT results (12 December 2024), the 

Borough Council wrote to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) to dispute the published figures.  This was followed by an 
exchange of communication between MHCLG, Office for National Statistics (ONS) and 
BCKLWN officers, culminating a meeting between officers of MHCLG, ONS and the 
Borough Council. 
 

2.2 During the meeting between MHCLG, ONS and the Borough Council (21 January 
2025), MHCLG and ONS acknowledged that there is an issue with our published HDT 
figures. ONS has indicated that this is due to how data was collated for the 2011 
Census which appeared to have artificially increased the numbers of dwellings, due to 
large numbers of static holiday homes having been incorrectly counted as “dwellings”.  
MHCLG and ONS agreed to investigate further, in view of evidence presented by the 
Borough Council. 
 

2.3 On 26 March 2025, MHCLG formally wrote to the Borough Council setting out a 
recalculated 2023 HDT result2.  The letter is also appended as an Annex to this HDT 
Action Plan update.  The revised calculation is set out below. 
 

Number of homes 
required 

Total 
number 

of homes 
required 

Number of homes 
delivered 

Total 
number of 

homes 
delivered 

Housing 
Delivery Test: 

updated 
(2023) 

measurement 

Housing 
Delivery 

Test: 2023 
consequence 

2020-
2021 

2021-
2022 

2022-
2023 

2020-2023 
2020-
2021 

2021-
2022 

2022-
2023 

2020-2023   

358 547 576 1481 340 340 616* 1296 87% Action plan 

* 569 + 47 dwellings carried forward from 2021-22 monitoring year 

 

2.4 The final published figure (March 2025; as shown in the Annex) varies slightly from 
the Borough Council’s interim calculations.  MHCLG’s figure for the 2022-2023 
monitoring year (576) is higher than the Borough Council’s figure (572), due to how 
figures had been rounded in applying the standard method.  In any event, the 87% 
2022-2023 result entails preparation of an updated HDT Action Plan for the 
forthcoming (2023-2024) monitoring period. 
 

3. Local Housing Need – incorporated into Local Plan 2021-2040 
 
3.1 The Standard Method for calculating Local Housing Need (LHN), as per the NPPF and 

PPG, was used to calculate the LHN for the Local Plan 2021-2040, adopted 27 March 
2025. As of 1 April 2024 (base date), this provides a figure of 554 new homes per year. 
The LHN calculation is set out below. 
 

                                                           
2 https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/9423/housing_delivery_test_2023_recalculation_letter.pdf  

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/9423/housing_delivery_test_2023_recalculation_letter.pdf
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/9423/housing_delivery_test_2023_recalculation_letter.pdf


4 
 

Local Housing Need (LHN) – 1 April 2024 

 
Step 1: Setting the baseline 

2014 – Based Household Projections in England. Table 406: 

 

2024 2034 Growth 

68,608 72,899 4,291 

4,291 / 10 = 429.1 

  

Step 2: An adjustment to take account of affordability 

2022 Median Work Based Affordability Ratio Table 5c: 

2022 = 8.64 

Adjustment Factor 

= (local affordability ratio – 4 / 4) x 0.25 

= (8.64 – 4 / 4) x 0.25 = 0.29 

Minimum annual local housing need figure 

= (1 + adjustment factor) x Projected household growth 

= (1 + 0.29) x 429.1 

= (553.539) 554 

  

Step 3: Capping the level of any increase 

Where the relevant strategic policies for housing were adopted more than 5 

years ago (at the point of making the calculation), the local housing need figure is 

capped at 40% above whichever is the higher of: 

a. the projected household growth for the area over the 10 year period 

identified in step 1; or  

b. the average annual housing requirement figure set out in the most recently 

adopted strategic policies (if a figure exists).   

 

 The average annual housing requirement figure in the existing relevant 

policies (Core Strategy 2011) is 660 a year 

 Average annual household growth over 10 years is 429.1 (as per step 1) 

 The minimum annual local housing need figure is 554 (as per step 2) 

 The cap is set at 40% above the higher of the most recent average annual 

housing requirement figure or household growth: 

 Cap = 660 + (40% x 660) = 660 + 264 = 924 



5 
 

 

The capped figure is greater than minimum annual housing need figure and 

therefore the minimum figure for this local authority is 554. 

 

BCKLWN Local Housing Need (LHN) = 554 

 

 

3.2 Over the 19-year Local Plan period (2021/22 to 2039/40) the LHN calculation requires 
10,526 new homes. Completions data has already been recorded for the first three 
years (2021-2024), with 16 years of the plan period remaining beyond the latest 
monitoring data (2024-2040), following adoption of the Local Plan (March 2025). 
 

4. BCKLWN Indicative Housing Delivery Test Result 2024 
 
4.1 The HDT results are anticipated to be published in November each year. They are 

based upon the previous 3 financial years.  The most recent (2023) result was 
confirmed by MHCLG on 26 March 2025 (see section 2, above/ Annex below), citing 
completions data from the following financial years: 
 

 April 2022 – March 2023; 

 April 2021 – March 2022; and 

 April 2020 – March 2021. 
 

4.2 Data is already available for the 2023-2024 monitoring year, allowing an interim 2024 
result to be prepared.  Updated calculations are set out below, which reflect the 
respective positions for the 2023 and 2024 datasets.  Slight discrepancies previously 
identified between the Government (MHCLG) and Borough Councils’ housing 
completions data for 2020-2023 are also now resolved. 
 

Indicative 2024 HDT result 

4.3 The initial MHCLG housing number returns for the 2023-2024 monitoring year were 
submitted in September 2024.  These demonstrated that 606 new homes had 
completed within the Borough during the 2023-2024 financial year (monitoring year).  
This applies 2023-2024 monitoring period that was submitted in October 2024 for the 
2024 return. 
 

2024 HDT indicative 
result 

     

Number of homes 
required 

Total 
number 

of homes 
required 

Number of homes 
delivered 

Total 
number of 

homes 
delivered 

Housing 
Delivery Test: 

updated 
(2024) 

measurement 

Housing 
Delivery 

Test: 2024 
consequence 

2021-
2022 

2022-
2023 

2023-
2024 

2021-2024 
2021-
2022 

2022-
2023 

2023-
2024 

2021-2024   

547 576 554 1677 340 616 606 1562 93% Action plan 

 



6 
 

4.4 The latest (2024) indicative result (93%) indicates a 6% increase from the (2023) figure 
(87%).  However, the HDT figure still falls marginally below the 95% “pass” figure.  
 

4.5 Accordingly, the HDT Action Plan remains important in setting out possible 
approaches to the Borough Council to further boost housing delivery rates.  The 
indicative 2024 result demonstrates that there could remain a requirement to further 
produce/ review the HDT Action Plan, once the 2024 result is published (late-2025). 
 

5. Monitoring 
 
5.1 The Borough Council recognises the ongoing importance of monitoring housing 

completions and continues to apply a comprehensive approach in which housing 
completions are monitored. This continues to evolve, utilising technology and 
intelligence captured by other Council services and external organisations; the main 
methods of data collection currently include those listed below: 
 

 Using dedicated computer software to record information, in combination with 

GIS software. 

 Dedicated team established for monitoring purposes.  

 Intelligence from BC Council Tax department.  

 BC waste and refuge information.  

 BC Street Naming & Numbering intelligence.  

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) information.  

 Condition monitoring information.  

 Planning officer information.  

 Contacting the owners/agents/developers of the site 

 In person site visits  

 Information from the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) via Geo-Place.  

 Ordnance Survey (OS) digital mapping updates. 

 

5.2 The HDT Action Plan should work alongside the Council’s plan monitoring processes.  
The Authority Monitoring Report (AMR)3 provides the definitive record for plan 
monitoring, including housing delivery. 
 

5.3 The AMR is a requirement of the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act.  The 
most recent AMR (2023-2024) was prepared with reference to the previous Local Plan 
(consisting of the 2011 Core Strategy and 2016 Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Plan).  Given the recent adoption of the replacement Local Plan 
2021-2040, housing delivery is now monitored with reference to the annual calculation 
for local housing need (554 dwellings per year – section 2, above), using the 
Government’s standard method and incorporated into the new Plan. 
 

                                                           
3 https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/354/authority_monitoring_reports_amr  

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/354/authority_monitoring_reports_amr
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20079/planning_policy_and_local_plan/354/authority_monitoring_reports_amr


7 
 

5.4 The December 2024 NPPF update and associated HDT Rule Book4 includes a 
revision to the standard method, which would lead to a near doubling of the Borough 
Council’s local housing need (LHN), from 554 to 989 new homes required per year.  
However, the Government has proposed transitional arrangements, whereby if there 
is an adopted spatial development strategy of less than 5 years old, then this would 
form the benchmark against which housing delivery and supply should be measured 
(i.e. 554 dwellings per year).  Therefore, housing delivery should be monitored against 
the current LHN (554), until at least the end of the 2029-2030 monitoring period. 
 

5.5 The NPPF allows the LHN used for the Local Plan to be applied for up to 5 years from 
the date of adoption (in this case, March 2025), where the housing requirement is 80% 
or less than the most up to date figure (calculated using the revised standard method).  
For the Borough, the Local Plan figure (554 dwellings), is just 56% of that using the 
revised standard method.  Therefore: 
 

From 1 July 2026, for the purposes of decision-making only, 20% where a local 

planning authority has a housing requirement adopted in the last five years examined 

against a previous version of this Framework, and whose annual average housing 

requirement is 80% or less of the most up to date local housing need figure calculated 

using the standard method set out in national planning practice guidance. (December 

2024 version, paragraph 78(c)) 

 

5.6 The NPPF (paragraph 78) specifies that the basis for calculating a five-year housing 
land supply will be adopted strategic policies (i.e. Local Plan 2021-2040), for the first 
5 years beyond adoption.  However, this requirement will increase from 554 dwellings 
(+5% buffer) to 554 dwellings (+20% buffer) from 1 July 2026 until the end of March 
2030.  Only following the 2029-2030 monitoring year would the new standard method 
apply (i.e. 989, or the calculated 2028-2029 figure, probably around 1,000 dwellings) 
be triggered. 
 

5.7 The HDT rule book confirms (paragraph 12) that where the latest adopted housing 
requirement figure is less than 5 years old, the Local Plan (spatial development 
strategy) requirement will continue to be used until it is more than 5 years old.  In the 
case of the Borough, the 554 annual local housing need figure (as used for the Local 
Plan 2021-2040) will continue to apply for the purposes of calculating HDT for the 
Borough, at least until March 2030. 
 

5.8 After 27 March 2030, the revised standard method should be applied for calculating 
the HDT result.  This currently results in an annual requirement for 989 dwellings, so 
it could be anticipated that 2029/2030 HDT result could be around 1,000 dwellings per 
year. 
 

5.9 By successfully adopting the new Local Plan, this brings certainty for the Borough 
Council, in terms of how housing delivery and supply is monitored, for up to 5-years 
ahead. 

                                                           
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book/housing-delivery-
test-measurement-rule-book  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book


8 
 

6. Housing Delivery Test Action Plan: Actions 
 
6.1 In 2023 the Borough Council adopted a new Corporate Strategy5.  This will apply to 

2027 and sets out a vision for: “A place where people can thrive, the environment is 
protected, heritage is preserved, and development meets the needs of people as well 
as legislation”. This should be achieved through a range of overarching themes and 
priorities relating to housing delivery, including: 
 

 Promote growth and prosperity to benefit West Norfolk; 

 Support our communities; 

 Work collaboratively; and 

 Implementing our priorities. 

 

6.2 The Corporate Strategy sets out a range of potential measures for achieving corporate 
priorities, with reference to housing delivery.  These are as follows: 
 

 Work with partners to develop a shared vision for a vibrant borough 

 Increase the number of good quality new homes and associated infrastructure 
built through direct provision by working with registered social landlords and 
private sector developers 

 Encourage private sector housing development that supports local need, 
delivers on local infrastructure 

 Provide information to local people, businesses and visitors in a timely and 
accessible manner 

 Improve access to affordable homes and work to improve the quality of rented 
accommodation. 

 

6.3 The Corporate Strategy provides an overarching framework, within which the Action 
Plan should function.  The table below (Figure 10 from the 2024 HDT Action Plan) 
outlines actions have been identified by the Borough Council, seeking to increase 
housing supply and delivery. These are categorised in timescales of when each could 
be achieved. They are based upon the Borough Council’s ongoing activities and the 
analysis of the housing completions and permission data available. 
 

                                                           
5 https://www.west-
norfolk.gov.uk/info/20163/corporate_performance_and_transparency/1090/corporate_strategy_2023_-_2027  

https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20163/corporate_performance_and_transparency/1090/corporate_strategy_2023_-_2027
https://www.west-norfolk.gov.uk/info/20163/corporate_performance_and_transparency/1090/corporate_strategy_2023_-_2027


9 
 

HDT – Actions identified to increase housing delivery 

Summary of Actions identified (further details are 
provided in Appendix) 

Relevant measure(s) identified 
in Corporate Strategy 

Ongoing: 

 Continue to proactively work with partners 
towards delivery of the West Winch Housing 
Growth Area (WWHGA) and associated 
infrastructure. 

 Consider mechanisms and working 
arrangements for reducing the time given to 
planning permissions, in light of the Housing 
Delivery Test result and future five-year 
housing land supply positions. 

 Continue to provide support for those 
communities wishing to prepare a 
Neighbourhood Plan for their area and if 
appropriate support neighbourhood plan 
allocations. 

 Continue to provide Member training, to 
understand their role in supporting housing 
delivery. 

 Continue to proactively monitor overall housing 
delivery (completions and permissions), 
including allocated sites (i.e. planned growth) 

 Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework - 
continue to support this non-statutory plan for 
Norfolk, which functions as a Statement of 
Common Ground between Norfolk authorities 

 Borough Council to carry out its functions with 
regard to its established housing companies 
and seek to provide further housing within the 
Borough. 

 Consider methods for increasing delivery of 
Custom and Self-Build (C&SB) housing, to 
meet the defined need (as shown on the 
Register).  These may include, for example, for 
larger sites promoted through a new local plan, 
consider a percentage policy requiring a 
proportion of housing on site-specific 
allocations to be reserved for C&SB homes.  
To ensure the need is being met, implement 
more rigorous and robust monitoring, for both 
entries on the Register and C&SB consents. 

 The Regeneration Team should continue to 
bring forward projects which provide 
opportunities for bolstering housing delivery; 
e.g. Economic Strategy, town centre parking 
studies etc. 

 

 Increase the number of 
good quality new homes 
and associated 
infrastructure. 

 Encourage private sector 
housing development that 
supports local need, 
delivers on local 
infrastructure. 

 

Short Term (1-2 years): 

 Move to determination of applications in 
accordance with Local Plan 2021-2040 and 

 Work with partners to 
develop a shared vision 
for a vibrant borough. 



10 
 

Summary of Actions identified (further details are 
provided in Appendix) 

Relevant measure(s) identified 
in Corporate Strategy 

national policy, to provide clarity, certainty and 
consistency. 

 Review and update Housing Delivery Test 
(HDT) Action Plan as appropriate. 

 Review Borough Council’s partnerships and 
working arrangements with private sector 
construction firms. 

 Analyse and consider potential opportunities 
for securing funding opportunities to support 
housing delivery; e.g. West Norfolk Shared 
Prosperity Funding, Rural England Prosperity 
Funding.  

 Adoption of replacement Local Plan 2021-
2040 –maintaining opportunities to bring 
forward a balanced portfolio of sites in terms of 
size, location, and Greenfield / Brownfield. 

 Produce a new Strategic Housing Marketing 
Assessment (SHMA) which could support the 
next Local Plan. 

 Development of new Strategic Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (IDP), to better coordinate 
delivery of infrastructure to support housing 
delivery. 

 Continue to work with adjoining local 
authorities, including as part of the Norfolk 
Strategic Planning Framework.  

 

 Encourage private sector 
housing development that 
supports local need, 
delivers on local 
infrastructure. 

 Provide information to 
local people, businesses 
and visitors in a timely 
and accessible manner. 

 Improve access to 
affordable homes and 
work to improve the 
quality of rented 
accommodation. 

 

Medium Term (2-5 years): 

 Prompt implementation of housing schemes 
on the Borough Council’s own sites – Build out 
of Borough Council sites which are allocated, 
have planning permission, or funding. 

 Once the emerging Local Plan has been 
adopted commence work on a new Local Plan 
– The Government is currently considering 
what a new local plan preparation framework 
will look like. Part of this is based on Levelling 
Up and Regeneration Act (LURA 2003), 
however we await further consultation on this. 
It is currently anticipated that the new plan 
making framework could be in place by 
summer/ autumn 2025. 

 Borough Council to consider future programme 
for Rural Exception Sites (affordable housing). 

 Borough Council to carry out its functions as a 
Registered Provider and consider direct 
provision of affordable housing. 

 Consider sites which may have stalled.  

 Commence preparation of a new Local Plan, 
under the new system introduced through the 

 Work with partners to 
develop a shared vision 
for a vibrant borough. 

 Pro Increase the number 
of good quality new 
homes and associated 
infrastructure. 

 vide information to local 
people, businesses and 
visitors in a timely and 
accessible manner. 

 



11 
 

Summary of Actions identified (further details are 
provided in Appendix) 

Relevant measure(s) identified 
in Corporate Strategy 

2023 Levelling Up and Regeneration Act and 
2025 Planning and Infrastructure Bill. 

 

Long Term (5+ years): 

 Borough Council to consider delivering more 
homes – both on own land and consider other 
options. 

 Progress and adopt new Local Plan. 

 

N/a – current Corporate Strategy 
expires in 2027 

 

6.4 The 2024 HDT Action Plan describes current and ongoing projects and activities that 
the Council is actively engaged in maximising opportunities to deliver the necessary 
housing to meet local needs.  It sets out specific actions that ensure the BC fulfils both 
its legal obligations and strategic aspirations, as specified in the Corporate Strategy.  
This update note represents a “light touch” update, in light of the 2023 HDT result, 
December 2024 NPPF update and adoption of new Local Plan 2021-2040 (27 March 
2025).  It is anticipated that preparation of a new Local Plan under the reformed system 
that is due to be introduced through the 2023 Levelling Up and Regeneration Act, and 
2025 Planning and Infrastructure Bill6 will commence in late-2025. 
 

6.5 The Borough Council realises that if it is to meet the tests set by Government, then we 
need to play to our strengths. Based upon the detailed analysis of housing delivery 
and supply for the 2024 HDT Action Plan, strengths include in-house expertise in direct 
delivery through the Borough Council’s actions on land it owns and active intervention 
on other sites (as necessary). It also means creating a policy framework which enables 
opportunities for sustainable windfall sites to continue to come forward at sustainable 
locations and in a sensitive manner, promoting growth and prosperity and supporting 
our communities, in line with the Corporate Strategy and newly-adopted Local Plan 
2021-2040. 
 

6.6 Other approaches to traditional models of development need to be considered such 
as Custom & Self-Build, we have seen that some sites have been delivered, that 
otherwise may not have been in such a timely manner. A more obvious measure is to 
ensure the Borough Councils continues to grant planning permission for Local Plan 
site allocations and proposals for sustainable windfall development, in accordance 
with the development plan (particularly the newly adopted Local Plan), unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and without delay. 
 

6.7 Actions will be monitored through future updates to the Housing Delivery Test Action 
Plan.  On the basis of the interim 2024 update, it is likely that a further HDT Action 
Plan will need to be produced after publication of the 2024 result (anticipated 
November 2025). The Appendix to the 2024 HDT Action Plan, accompanied by this 
update, provides a detailed and comprehensive review of specific actions that the 
Council can, and should, continue to pursue to achieve successful housing delivery, 
meeting local needs. 

                                                           
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-planning-and-infrastructure-bill  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-planning-and-infrastructure-bill


12 
 

 

 



13 
 

ANNEX: MHCLG letter, 26 March 2025 

 

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government  
4th Floor, Fry Building 2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF 
 
Email: PlanningPolicy@communities.gov.uk  
 
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg  

Michael Burton 
Principal Planner 
Borough Council of King’s Lynn & 
West Norfolk  
michael.burton@west-
norfolk.gov.uk  
 

 
 
 
 
26th March 2025 
 

 

Letter from MHCLG regarding recalculation of your 2023 Housing Delivery Test 

score 

 

Dear Michael 

You previously contacted us regarding the use of census-adjusted net additions 

figures in the 2023 Housing Delivery Test (HDT). In your correspondence to us, you 

provided us with evidence that the census-adjusted net additions figure for the 

2020/21 year does not reflect the on-the-ground delivery in King’s Lynn & West 

Norfolk, and that the use of this figure has affected your HDT consequence. 

Following discussions with the ONS, it has been brought to our attention that 

methodological changes to the way certain types of accommodation are counted, 

made between the 2011 and 2021 census, may have resulted in changes to total 

stock counts in your area. 

While we continue to rely on the census dwelling count as the baseline for the net 

additional dwelling statistics, as it is one of the most reliable National Statistics 

produced and subject to intensive validation processes/address matching, we 

understand that use of the adjusted figure for the 2020/21 measurement year has 

resulted in a different HDT consequence in your area than would have been the case 

compared to if the non-adjusted figures were used. After investigations of the data, 

including the evidence you submitted to us, we believe that in this specific instance 

the adjusted figures are not appropriate to use in the HDT. 

We are therefore able to recalculate your 2023 HDT score using non-adjusted net 

additions figures. 

mailto:PlanningPolicy@communities.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
mailto:michael.burton@west-norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:michael.burton@west-norfolk.gov.uk


14 
 

We have produced a revised score using the non-census-adjusted net additions 

figures for the 2020/21 measurement year. We have also reflected revisions made to 

2022/23 net additions. 

We are therefore able to confirm that King’s Lynn & West Norfolk’s revised 2023 

HDT measurement is as follows: 

Number of homes 
required 

Total 
number of 

homes 
required 

Number of homes 
delivered 

Total 
number of 

homes 
delivered 

Housing 
Delivery Test: 

2023 
measurement 

Housing 
Delivery Test: 

2023 
consequence 

2020
-21 

2021
-22 

2022
-23 

1481 

2020
-21 

2021
-22 

2022
-23 

1296 87% Action plan 

358 547 576 340 340 616 

 

For the avoidance of doubt, this letter supersedes the measurement for your local 

authority area which was published on 12 December 2024. To provide clarity, you 

should publish this on your website. 

The revised Housing Delivery Test measurement for King’s Lynn & West Norfolk 

takes effect upon receipt of this letter, as will any consequences that apply as a 

result of the measurement. 

The consequence shown above will remain in place until the next publication of the 

Housing Delivery Test measurement. 

 

Kind regards, 

Planning Policy Team  

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 


	Agenda
	1 Approval of Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 2025
	Housing Delivery Test update 2025


